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Wilmington Memorial Day organizers look back and ahead 
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The Delaware Avenue Historic District contains twenty Victorian mansions along a wide 
two-block avenue. There are various styles of nineteenth-century architecture in these 
two remaining blocks of a once larger suburban residential section. 

Italianate and Queen Anne styles predominate among the surviving buildings. Colonial• 
revival and mansard-roofed houses are also present. The style and massing of the build­
ings is quite large, mostly three stories in height with extensive wings to the rear 
of most of the houses. The houses are both detached and semi-detached. The modern 
intrusions, several apartments, blend well with the surrounding houses. 

Beginning at the south side of the 1200 block,with 1204-1206 and 1208-1210 (1 and 2), 
the Italianate style is most evident in the heavy bracket cornices and three-story 
height of these pressed-brick, semi-detached houses. Each has a fairly low roofline 
with interior end chimneys. Protruding gables with bracket cornices and gingerbread 
detail extend from the sides of both structures. 1208-1210 has limestone quoins. 
The next building to the west of these Italianate houses is a four-story twentieth­
century apartment complex (3). 

Across the street, going east, is first a large semi-detached brick house (4 and 5); 
the western portion of which, also known as 1400 N. Franklin Street, is three stories 
high with gable roof, shed dormers, and delicate bargeboard treatment. The handsome 
porch and interesting roof configuration distinguish this house. The eastern portion 
(5) is a three-story Colonial revival brick structure, laid in Flemish bond brickwork. 
Although predominantly Georgian or Colonial revival in style, there is a conglomeration 
of other features, including Greek and Gothic revival. The late date of this part of 
the house, 1908, explains the diversity in the architecture. 

To the east of 1213 is a three-story, detached, brick house (6) with a mansard roof 
and bracket cornice. The house is the only one in the block with a mansard roof; 
however, its height and massing, including numerous back wings, conforms to the overall 
esthetic quality of the 1200 block. 

Finally, there are two semi-detached houses, 1205-1207 (7) and 1201-1203 (8) of 
similar style and detail. Each has a heavy bracket cornice, attenuated ground-floor 
windows, and marble lintels and lugsills. The paired doorways are framed by bolection 
mouldings. 1205-1207 has a modified pent roof across the facade; however, this 
feature was removed from 1201-1203. This modified pent roof is an outstanding charac­
teristic of this block as most of the houses on the north side of the block have some 
form of pent roof. 

The predominant characteristic of the 1300 block of Delaware Avenue is the size of 
the houses built as single-family dwellings and not as semi-detached houses. All are 
three or more story dwellings. This block shows a predominance of the Queen Anne 
revival and Italianate styles. 

Two twentieth-century apartment complexes are in this block. One, the Plaza (9), is 
a high rise of contemporary design and sits well back from Delaware Avenue. The other, 
1320 (18), is smaller in proportion and resembles more closely the architecture of the 
block. 
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The Delaware Avenue Historic District, an excellent example of America's "Gilded Age," 
contains outstanding examples of Victorian architecture. The district is also signifi­
cant as an example of early suburban development in America. 

The rema.i.ning original houses reflect fine Victorian architectural characteristics. 
The Italianate and Queen Anne styles predominate. Generally these houses or mansions 
are set well back from the street and occupy generous lots. They are true Victorian 
mansions: massive in size and irregular in plan. Bays, turrets, cross gables, and 
large front porches appear frequently. 

A variety of materials are used, often in combination, in the construction and decoration 
of the houses, including brick, granite, marble, terracotta, brownstone, ashlar-scored 
stucco, wood, cast iron, and slate. Many of the houses have one or more stained-glass 
windows. All of these architectural features and materials were used lavishly in the 
design of the major houses along Delaware Avenue, and most of the buildings still retain 
a nineteenth-century grandeur in their exteriors. 

Fewer of the elaborate interiors, popular during the period, have survived intact. 
Most notable in this respect is 1308 (16), now occupied by the Delaware Lung Association. 
One of its ground-floor rooms has a ceiling richly embellished with Gothic tracery, while 
an adjoining sitting room is decorated in the style of Louis XV. 1304 (14) has a particu­
larly fine fireplace in the room now serving as one of the A.A.U.W. offices and a smaller 
tiled fireplace is in the hall. 

In the area formed by Delaware Avenue, West Fourteenth Street and North Broom Street is 
the Soldier and Sailors Monument. It originated with the idea of Alfreds. Nones, one­
time officer with the Delaware Veteran Volunteer Infantry, to convert the columns in 
front of the Old Pennsylvania Bank Building, demolished in 1868, into monuments to the 
Civil War dead. The bill passed in Congress and plans were drawn up by A. B. Mullet, 
Supervising Architect in Washington, D. C. The monument was privately funded. In 1880 
Washington Jones, the president of the Soldiers Monument Association, took charge of 
the shaft. 

The Delaware Avenue Historic District is outstanding as an example of effective city 
planning. It comprises the only extant portions of the original 1870's real estate 
development along the trolley car line established by Joshua T. Heald in 1864 to en­
courage settlement in this part of Wilmington, In partnership with James L. Devou, 
Heald improved and laid out lots along the line. The lower portion of Delaware Avenue, 
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The north side of the block is primarily Italianate with large,. three-story structures 
having heavy bracket cornices. 1313 (11) is also ashlar-scored stucco. A slight 
central gable serves as a pediment top to the third-story Palladian window. The window 
surrounds are engaged pilaster strips. The motif is repeated in the central doorway 
and portico. 1315 (12) reflects both the Italianate and Gothic revival styles. Half 
of 1315 is now called the West Wing and is 1500 North Broom Street. Today there are 
two entrances: one on North Broom Street and one on Delaware Avenue. 

The south side of the block is predominately Queen Anne revival in style. The houses 
are unusually large. The only Italianate structure on this side of the block is 1300 
(13). It is a three-story brick house with heavy projecting bracket cornice and front 
porch. In the same style as the semi-detached houses in the 1200 block, it was de­
signed as a single-family dwelling. 

The remaining houses in the block, 1304 (14), 1306 (15), 1308 (16), 1310 (17) are 
Queen Anne revival, but each has individual characteristics. 1304 is a three-story, 
brick house with hipped roof, gables with bargeboard trim, tower, and turret. This 
house has all of the Queen Anne elements: slate, terracotta, and wood with a brick 
base. 1306 is a three-story brick house and has a third story mansard with central 
cupola mansard topping the central brick projecting bay. The porch is Richardsonian 
in style, with short massed columns supporting Syrian arches, with the portico topped 
by a hooded turret sporting an eyebrow window. 

1308 and 1310 (16 and 17) are both Tudor/Queen Anne revival houses. 1308 has tall 
corbelled chimneys integrated within an irregular massing of gables and bays. It is 
three stories high. 1310 is a three-and-a-half-story brick mansion with irregular 
massing of gables and entrances. 

Accentuating this block is the tall Soldiers and Sailors Monument. The column has 
an inscribed base and ball on top with an eagle throttling a serpent. It is situated 
in a square landscaped with grass. 

Facing the Soldiers and Sailors Monument are two houses on North Broom Street which 
complete the district. 1401-1403 North Broom Street is a three-story, semi-detached, 
brick, second empire house. To the north of it is 1400 Delaware Avenue, built in 
the Italian villa style. It is a three-story, tan stucco house. 
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1. 1204-1206 Delaware Avenue: 1872, Italianate, three stories, 
semi-detached (S. D. Carswell), N-2581. 

2. 1208-1210 Delaware Avenue: 1875, Italianate, three stories, 
semi-detached, limestone quoins (Robert Scott), N-2582. 

3. 1212 Delaware Avenue: 20th century, four stories, apartment 
complex. 

4. 1215 Delaware Avenue: ca. 1875, Italianate, three stories, 
brick, detached, shed dormers (Mary Dixon), N-2594. 

5. 1213 Delaware Avenue: 1908, Colonial Revival, three stories, 
brick (Joseph Reybold), N-2593. 

6. 1211 Delaware Avenue: 1870, Italianate/Second Empire, three 
stories, brick mansard roof (William Spruance), N-2592. 

7. 1205-1207 Delaware Avenue: 1873-1874, Italianate, three 
stories, brick, marble lintels and lugsills (Clement B. Smyth), N-2591. 

8. 1201-1203 Delaware Avenue: 1873-1874, Italianate, three stories, 
brick, marble lintels, and lugsills, modified pent roof (Clement 
B. Smyth), N-2591. 

9. Plaza Apartments, 1303 Delaware Avenue: 1954, high-rise 
apartment complex. 

10. 1311 Delaware Avenue: 1871-1872, Italianate, three stories, 
detached, detailed wooden surrounds (James L. Devou), N-2595. 

11. 1313 Delaware Avenue: 1871-1872, Italianate, three stories, 
scored-stucco, detached, engaged pilaster window surrounds 
(James C. Johnson), N-2596. 

12. 1315 Delaware Avenue: 1868-1869, Gothic Revival, detached, 
grey fieldstone (Heald-Lovering), N-1076. 

13. 1300 Delaware Avenue: ca. 1879, Queen Anne Revival, three stories, 
brick, detached (John Warner), N-2583. 
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14. 1304 Delaware Avenue: ca. 1871, Queen Anne Revival, three 
stories, brick, hipped roof, tower, turret (Joshua T. Heald), N-2584. 

15. 1306 Delaware Avenue: 1874-1877, Queen Anne Revival, three 
stories, brick (General H.B. Judd), N-2585. 

16. 1308 Delaware Avenue: 1890, Tudor/Queen Anne Revival, three 
stories, tall corbelled chimneys (George Lobdell), N-2586. 

17. 1310 Delaware Avenue: ca. 1893, Tudor/Queen Anne Revival, three 
and a half stories, gables, N-2587. 

18. 1320 Delaware Avenue: 1940, apartment complex. 

19. 1401-1403 North Broom Street: 1877, Second Empire, three stories, 
semi-detached, brick mansard roof (Mahlon M. Child), N-2692. 

20. 1400 Delaware Avenue: 1876, Italian Villa, three stories, tan 
stucco (Mahlon M. Child), N-2588. 
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including the 900, 1000, and 1100 blocks, is gone, but the remaining 1200 and 1300 blocks 
centered around the historic Soldiers and Sailors Monument, retain much of the grandeur 
of their heyday. Strictly speculative, the real estate development proved a profitable 
investment. In less than ten years, this area was the most fashionable in the city and 
contained homes built in the most modern architectural styles. Many of the city's in­
dustrial and civic leaders built homes along the avenue. These men set the standard for 
elegance in Wilmington. 

The 900, 1000, and 1100 blocks were developed first. Unfortunately, the buildings in 
these blocks are gone. The first houses in the 1200 block were built by James Bradford 
in 1871. The unique facade of 1200-1202 was painted because it had been built using 
second-hand bricks saved from the demolition of the old Indian Queen Hotel at Fifth 
and Market Streets, which was razed to make way for the Clayton House. This semi­
detached house was demolished. 

1200-1203 (8) and 1205-1207 (7) were built in 1873 as an investment by Clement B. Smyth, 
treasurer of the Diamond State Iron Company and the Vulcanized Fibre Company. William 
Spruance, one of the foremost lawyers in Delaware and later Senior Associate Justice of 
Delaware, built the next house to the west, 1211 (6), around 1870. Across the street 
in the same block, 1204-1206 (1) was built bys. D. Carswell, a millowner, who occupied 
1206 and sold 1204 to F. L. Gilpin, president of the F. L. Gilpin Insurance Company. 
1208-1210 {2) was built in 1875 by Robert Scott, who lived there for three years and 
then sold it to Thomas Bellah, president of the Bellah Iron and Steel Company. 

Among the builders of homes in the 1300 block were James L. Devou, Heald's Delaware 
Avenue development partner, James c. Johnson, owner of a house-finishing company, and 
Heald himself. Devou built 1311 (10) in 1871. Heald also built 1315 (12). Johnson 
built 1313 (11) at the same time .. 

Had the development of Delaware Avenue remained centered around that one main street, 
it is doubtful that even the 1200 and 1300 blocks of the larger development would have 
remained. However, streets adjacent to Delaware Avenue were laid out and later de­
veloped along the same architectural lines as the Delaware Avenue homes. These subsid­
iary streets are not being included in the historic district at this time because of 
their later date. 

Delaware Avenue was originally developed to provide a residential section for the grow­
ing Wilmington. Now a century later, people are returning to the area from the suburbs 
again to be closer to the center of Wilmington. The large apartment complexes in the 
area supply the additional needed housing. Thus, Delaware Avenue remains an important 
adjunct to the city. 
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subsequently, was altered by May (1917-1923; 
Weston Holt Blake, draftsman), then again hy 
C. Morris Whiteside (1950), and yet again in 
the 199os. Only the ceiling remains from the 
1880s. 1'he church proper, by Philadelphia ar­
chitect Potter, has extensive stained glass. The 
Community Hall and long covered walk with 
stone buttresses were added in 1992-1993. 
ln the once-highly fashionable neighhorhood 
nearby sland Tmmanuel Episcopal al 2400 W. 
17th Street (1915, Frederick .E. Mann, with 
Brown and Whiteside, and stained glass by 
Frank Schoonover, 1929-1930) and St. Ste­
phen's Lutheran (H:)26-1927, Clarence R. 
Hope) at 1304 N. Rodney Slreet. 

138 WILMINGTON 

WL85 Soldiers and Sailors Monument 

1871, Alfred 13. Mullett, incorporating a 1799-
1801 r.ol.umn by Benjamin Henry Latrohe; Harry 
Lowe, sculptor. Deluwure Ave. and Broom St. 

This column was the first public monument 
ever erected in Wilmingtcm and incorporates 
a fragment of one of America's most historic 
lost structures. Tn 1868, Latrobe's Bank of 
Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, was demolished 
to make way for the U.S. Appraisers' Stores 
Building. Delaware Civil War veteran Albert S. 
Nones suggested to U.S. Congressman Charles 
O'Neill of Philadelphia that its columns he 
made into war memorials to he designed by 

the architect Mullett. Congress passed a bill 
of authorization. Through Nones's leadership, 
the Soldiers and Sailors Monument Associa­
tion, Delaware, successfully applied for one 
of the columns, which formed the basis for 
the state's only Civil War soldiers memorial. 
(Other Lairobc-mlumn memorials survive at 
Adrian, Michigan, and Dayton, Ohio.) Lowe 
fasl1 ione<l the globe and eagle ( which grapples 
with the serpent of rebellion), cast at Pusey and 
Jo11es Company in Wilmington from donated 
cannon bronze. The monument was dedicated 
in May 1871 by General Oliver 0. Howard of 
the Freedman's Bureau. Debts went unpaid, 
and the sheriff seized the monument for a 
time. Willam du Pont enclosed the plot with 

• BRANDYWI 
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granite copings in 1893 a.~ Monument Place. 
The landscaping is modern (1978, Edward 
Bachtle). The surrounding neighborhood has 
interesting houses of the 1870.~-1880.~ era, 
although the childhood homl' of memoirist 
llenry Seidel Canby (The Age of Couftdence, 
1934) at 1212 Delaware Avenue was tom down 
for a 192os-era apartment house. 

WL86 Frank E. Schoonover Studios 

1905-1906, Edward Luff Rice Jr. 1616 
N. Rodney St. 

Art collector Samuel Bancroft built fou r at­
tached studios for illustrators studying with 
Howard Pyle . The architecture is simpli-
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Harry Lowe (Eagle Group) 

5. SOLDIERS AND SAILORS MONUMENT 
1871 , granite shaft, bronze eagle group 

On the triangle formed by the conjunction of 
Delaware Avenue, 14th Street and Broom Street 

SOLDIERS AND SAILORS MONUMENT 

The Soldiers and Sailors Monument was 
erected through the efforts of the Soldiers and 
Sailors Monument Association, whose object it 
was to raise funds to provide a site and erect a 
monument to perpetuate the memory of those 
"who fell in defence of the Union during the late 
war for the suppression of the rebellion ." The "late 
war" was the Civil War; the monument was 
dedicated on Memorial Day, 1871 . It was the City 
of Wilmington's first (and still the largest) outdoor 
public monument. 

The structure is composed of a granite column 
45 feet high, resting upon a square concrete base 
10 feet high, which sits upon a two-stepped 
concrete platform. The platform with its super­
structure is then mounted atop a broad grassy 
mound, attained from street level by a flight of 
concrete steps. 

Instead of a traditional Corinthian or Ionic 
capital the shaft is topped by four garlanded 
shields bearing stars and stripes motifs. This 
capital is surmounted by a bronze globe upon 
which a bronze eagle has just alighted. The eagle 
is throttling in its talons a reptile representing 
secession. 

The north face of the base is inscribed: 

SOLDIERS AND SAILORS 
MONUMENT 

IN COMMEMORATION OF DELAWARE'S 
PATRIOTIC DEAD WHO SACRIFICED 
THEIR LIVES FOR THEIR COUNTRY 

DURING THE REBELLION OF 1861-65 

The south face of the base is inscribed: 

THE THANKS OF THE 
MONUMENT ASSOCIATION 

ARE EXTENDED TO ELI CROZIER 
FOR VALUABLE SERVICES RENDERED 

IN THE COMPLETION OF THIS MONUMENT 

The monument came to be erected through a 
set of fortuitous circumstances. In 1868 the 
Federal Government announced plans for the 
demolition of its building at Second and Lodge 
Streets in Philadelphia. This was the neo­
classical Bank of Pennsylvania built in 1800 by 
the famed architect Benjamin Latrobe. A 
Wilmingtonian and former Civil War officer, 
Albert S. Nones, came forward with the 
suggestion that columns from the facade of the 
bank building be offered to such of the thirteen 
original colonies/states which might desire to 
convert them into memorials to those who died in 
the War. This was done by Act of Congress, and 
Delaware obtained one. In addition, Congress 
donated a bronze Civil War cannon from which a 
local artist, Harry Lowe, forged the eagle group, 
using the facilities of Pusey & Jones, the local 
shipbuilding firm . The memorial was constructed 
from plans drawn up by A. B. Mullet, an architect 
from Washington, D.C. 

A few years later, however, the Association 
which was responsible for the monument's 
erection found itself unable to repay some $1,700 
of the $3,800 it had borrowed. The creditors sued 
and turned the property over to the sheriff, who 
announced that it would be auctioned off to clear 
the debt. At this juncture another Wilmingtonian, 
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Eli Crozier, a self-styled superpatriot who 
occasionally appeared in a stars and stripes 
costume, prevailed upon the sheriff to delay the 
sale. Through persistent efforts over a period of 
six years of public appeals he raised $3,000, 
which he turned over to the creditors at a 
Memorial Day ceremony in 1880. The inscription 

28 

on the south face of the base was engraved, and 
for many years afterward the monument was 
popularly known as the Crozier Monument. 
Subsequently, the Association turned the title 
over to the City, and ever since then the annual 
Memorial Day parades have been terminating at 
the site for speeches and ceremonies. 
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A Chronology of 
Wilmington Events & Sculpture 

Event Year Sculpture 

Columbus 1492 
Landina of the Swedes 1638 
Caesar Rodney 1776 
Casimir Pulaski 1779 
Peter Spencer 1843 
Admiral duPont· Civil War 1865 

1871 Soldiers & Sailors Monument 
President James A. Garfield 1881 

1884 Admiral duPont Statue 
1895 President Garfield Statue 

Thomas Francis Bavard 1898 
President William McKinlev 1901 

1906 President McKinley Plaaue 
1907 Thomas Francis Bayard Statue 

World War I 1918 
1923 Caesar Rodney Eguestrian Statue 
1925 Todd Memorial 
1933 Jose~hine Memorial Fountain 
1938 Landing of the Swedes Monument 

World War II 1945 
1954 Casimir Pulaski Plague 
1957 Christo~her Columbus Statue 
1970 Boy & Dogs SculQture 
1971 Boy & Duck SculQture 

Vietnam War 1972 
1973 Father & Son Sculpture 
1979 The Holocaust Memorial 
1980 Untitled 1979-8 
1980 Monumental Holistic No. VII 
1981 Wild Iris 
1983 Electroglide 
1983 Kinetic SculQtures 
1983 Vietnam Memorial 
1983 Orifice II 
1985 Proa 
1985 The Sentinel 
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The Delaware Avenue Historic District contains twenty Victorian mansions along a wide 
two-block avenue. There are various styles of nineteenth-century architecture in these 
two remaining blocks of a once larger suburban residential section. 

Italianate and Queen Anne styles predominate among the surviving buildings. Colonial• 
revival and mansard-roofed houses are also present. The style and massing of the build­
ings is quite large, mostly three stories in height with extensive wings to the rear 
of most of the houses. The houses are both detached and semi-detached. The modern 
intrusions, several apartments, blend well with the surrounding houses. 

Beginning at the south side of the 1200 block,with 1204-1206 and 1208-1210 (1 and 2), 
the Italianate style is most evident in the heavy bracket cornices and three-story 
height of these pressed-brick, semi-detached houses. Each has a fairly low roofline 
with interior end chimneys. Protruding gables with bracket cornices and gingerbread 
detail extend from the sides of both structures. 1208-1210 has limestone quoins. 
The next building to the west of these Italianate houses is a four-story twentieth­
century apartment complex (3). 

Across the street, going east, is first a large semi-detached brick house (4 and 5); 
the western portion of which, also known as 1400 N. Franklin Street, is three stories 
high with gable roof, shed dormers, and delicate bargeboard treatment. The handsome 
porch and interesting roof configuration distinguish this house. The eastern portion 
(5) is a three-story Colonial revival brick structure, laid in Flemish bond brickwork. 
Although predominantly Georgian or Colonial revival in style, there is a conglomeration 
of other features, including Greek and Gothic revival. The late date of this part of 
the house, 1908, explains the diversity in the architecture. 

To the east of 1213 is a three-story, detached, brick house (6) with a mansard roof 
and bracket cornice. The house is the only one in the block with a mansard roof; 
however, its height and massing, including numerous back wings, conforms to the overall 
esthetic quality of the 1200 block. 

Finally, there are two semi-detached houses, 1205-1207 (7) and 1201-1203 (8) of 
similar style and detail. Each has a heavy bracket cornice, attenuated ground-floor 
windows, and marble lintels and lugsills. The paired doorways are framed by bolection 
mouldings. 1205-1207 has a modified pent roof across the facade; however, this 
feature was removed from 1201-1203. This modified pent roof is an outstanding charac­
teristic of this block as most of the houses on the north side of the block have some 
form of pent roof. 

The predominant characteristic of the 1300 block of Delaware Avenue is the size of 
the houses built as single-family dwellings and not as semi-detached houses. All are 
three or more story dwellings. This block shows a predominance of the Queen Anne 
revival and Italianate styles. 

Two twentieth-century apartment complexes are in this block. One, the Plaza (9), is 
a high rise of contemporary design and sits well back from Delaware Avenue. The other, 
1320 (18), is smaller in proportion and resembles more closely the architecture of the 
block. 
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The Delaware Avenue Historic District, an excellent example of America's "Gilded Age," 
contains outstanding examples of Victorian architecture. The district is also signifi­
cant as an example of early suburban development in America. 

The rema.i.ning original houses reflect fine Victorian architectural characteristics. 
The Italianate and Queen Anne styles predominate. Generally these houses or mansions 
are set well back from the street and occupy generous lots. They are true Victorian 
mansions: massive in size and irregular in plan. Bays, turrets, cross gables, and 
large front porches appear frequently. 

A variety of materials are used, often in combination, in the construction and decoration 
of the houses, including brick, granite, marble, terracotta, brownstone, ashlar-scored 
stucco, wood, cast iron, and slate. Many of the houses have one or more stained-glass 
windows. All of these architectural features and materials were used lavishly in the 
design of the major houses along Delaware Avenue, and most of the buildings still retain 
a nineteenth-century grandeur in their exteriors. 

Fewer of the elaborate interiors, popular during the period, have survived intact. 
Most notable in this respect is 1308 (16), now occupied by the Delaware Lung Association. 
One of its ground-floor rooms has a ceiling richly embellished with Gothic tracery, while 
an adjoining sitting room is decorated in the style of Louis XV. 1304 (14) has a particu­
larly fine fireplace in the room now serving as one of the A.A.U.W. offices and a smaller 
tiled fireplace is in the hall. 

In the area formed by Delaware Avenue, West Fourteenth Street and North Broom Street is 
the Soldier and Sailors Monument. It originated with the idea of Alfreds. Nones, one­
time officer with the Delaware Veteran Volunteer Infantry, to convert the columns in 
front of the Old Pennsylvania Bank Building, demolished in 1868, into monuments to the 
Civil War dead. The bill passed in Congress and plans were drawn up by A. B. Mullet, 
Supervising Architect in Washington, D. C. The monument was privately funded. In 1880 
Washington Jones, the president of the Soldiers Monument Association, took charge of 
the shaft. 

The Delaware Avenue Historic District is outstanding as an example of effective city 
planning. It comprises the only extant portions of the original 1870's real estate 
development along the trolley car line established by Joshua T. Heald in 1864 to en­
courage settlement in this part of Wilmington, In partnership with James L. Devou, 
Heald improved and laid out lots along the line. The lower portion of Delaware Avenue, 
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The north side of the block is primarily Italianate with large,. three-story structures 
having heavy bracket cornices. 1313 (11) is also ashlar-scored stucco. A slight 
central gable serves as a pediment top to the third-story Palladian window. The window 
surrounds are engaged pilaster strips. The motif is repeated in the central doorway 
and portico. 1315 (12) reflects both the Italianate and Gothic revival styles. Half 
of 1315 is now called the West Wing and is 1500 North Broom Street. Today there are 
two entrances: one on North Broom Street and one on Delaware Avenue. 

The south side of the block is predominately Queen Anne revival in style. The houses 
are unusually large. The only Italianate structure on this side of the block is 1300 
(13). It is a three-story brick house with heavy projecting bracket cornice and front 
porch. In the same style as the semi-detached houses in the 1200 block, it was de­
signed as a single-family dwelling. 

The remaining houses in the block, 1304 (14), 1306 (15), 1308 (16), 1310 (17) are 
Queen Anne revival, but each has individual characteristics. 1304 is a three-story, 
brick house with hipped roof, gables with bargeboard trim, tower, and turret. This 
house has all of the Queen Anne elements: slate, terracotta, and wood with a brick 
base. 1306 is a three-story brick house and has a third story mansard with central 
cupola mansard topping the central brick projecting bay. The porch is Richardsonian 
in style, with short massed columns supporting Syrian arches, with the portico topped 
by a hooded turret sporting an eyebrow window. 

1308 and 1310 (16 and 17) are both Tudor/Queen Anne revival houses. 1308 has tall 
corbelled chimneys integrated within an irregular massing of gables and bays. It is 
three stories high. 1310 is a three-and-a-half-story brick mansion with irregular 
massing of gables and entrances. 

Accentuating this block is the tall Soldiers and Sailors Monument. The column has 
an inscribed base and ball on top with an eagle throttling a serpent. It is situated 
in a square landscaped with grass. 

Facing the Soldiers and Sailors Monument are two houses on North Broom Street which 
complete the district. 1401-1403 North Broom Street is a three-story, semi-detached, 
brick, second empire house. To the north of it is 1400 Delaware Avenue, built in 
the Italian villa style. It is a three-story, tan stucco house. 
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1. 1204-1206 Delaware Avenue: 1872, Italianate, three stories, 
semi-detached (S. D. Carswell), N-2581. 

2. 1208-1210 Delaware Avenue: 1875, Italianate, three stories, 
semi-detached, limestone quoins (Robert Scott), N-2582. 

3. 1212 Delaware Avenue: 20th century, four stories, apartment 
complex. 

4. 1215 Delaware Avenue: ca. 1875, Italianate, three stories, 
brick, detached, shed dormers (Mary Dixon), N-2594. 

5. 1213 Delaware Avenue: 1908, Colonial Revival, three stories, 
brick (Joseph Reybold), N-2593. 

6. 1211 Delaware Avenue: 1870, Italianate/Second Empire, three 
stories, brick mansard roof (William Spruance), N-2592. 

7. 1205-1207 Delaware Avenue: 1873-1874, Italianate, three 
stories, brick, marble lintels and lugsills (Clement B. Smyth), N-2591. 

8. 1201-1203 Delaware Avenue: 1873-1874, Italianate, three stories, 
brick, marble lintels, and lugsills, modified pent roof (Clement 
B. Smyth), N-2591. 

9. Plaza Apartments, 1303 Delaware Avenue: 1954, high-rise 
apartment complex. 

10. 1311 Delaware Avenue: 1871-1872, Italianate, three stories, 
detached, detailed wooden surrounds (James L. Devou), N-2595. 

11. 1313 Delaware Avenue: 1871-1872, Italianate, three stories, 
scored-stucco, detached, engaged pilaster window surrounds 
(James C. Johnson), N-2596. 

12. 1315 Delaware Avenue: 1868-1869, Gothic Revival, detached, 
grey fieldstone (Heald-Lovering), N-1076. 

13. 1300 Delaware Avenue: ca. 1879, Queen Anne Revival, three stories, 
brick, detached (John Warner), N-2583. 
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14. 1304 Delaware Avenue: ca. 1871, Queen Anne Revival, three 
stories, brick, hipped roof, tower, turret (Joshua T. Heald), N-2584. 

15. 1306 Delaware Avenue: 1874-1877, Queen Anne Revival, three 
stories, brick (General H.B. Judd), N-2585. 

16. 1308 Delaware Avenue: 1890, Tudor/Queen Anne Revival, three 
stories, tall corbelled chimneys (George Lobdell), N-2586. 

17. 1310 Delaware Avenue: ca. 1893, Tudor/Queen Anne Revival, three 
and a half stories, gables, N-2587. 

18. 1320 Delaware Avenue: 1940, apartment complex. 

19. 1401-1403 North Broom Street: 1877, Second Empire, three stories, 
semi-detached, brick mansard roof (Mahlon M. Child), N-2692. 

20. 1400 Delaware Avenue: 1876, Italian Villa, three stories, tan 
stucco (Mahlon M. Child), N-2588. 
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including the 900, 1000, and 1100 blocks, is gone, but the remaining 1200 and 1300 blocks 
centered around the historic Soldiers and Sailors Monument, retain much of the grandeur 
of their heyday. Strictly speculative, the real estate development proved a profitable 
investment. In less than ten years, this area was the most fashionable in the city and 
contained homes built in the most modern architectural styles. Many of the city's in­
dustrial and civic leaders built homes along the avenue. These men set the standard for 
elegance in Wilmington. 

The 900, 1000, and 1100 blocks were developed first. Unfortunately, the buildings in 
these blocks are gone. The first houses in the 1200 block were built by James Bradford 
in 1871. The unique facade of 1200-1202 was painted because it had been built using 
second-hand bricks saved from the demolition of the old Indian Queen Hotel at Fifth 
and Market Streets, which was razed to make way for the Clayton House. This semi­
detached house was demolished. 

1200-1203 (8) and 1205-1207 (7) were built in 1873 as an investment by Clement B. Smyth, 
treasurer of the Diamond State Iron Company and the Vulcanized Fibre Company. William 
Spruance, one of the foremost lawyers in Delaware and later Senior Associate Justice of 
Delaware, built the next house to the west, 1211 (6), around 1870. Across the street 
in the same block, 1204-1206 (1) was built bys. D. Carswell, a millowner, who occupied 
1206 and sold 1204 to F. L. Gilpin, president of the F. L. Gilpin Insurance Company. 
1208-1210 {2) was built in 1875 by Robert Scott, who lived there for three years and 
then sold it to Thomas Bellah, president of the Bellah Iron and Steel Company. 

Among the builders of homes in the 1300 block were James L. Devou, Heald's Delaware 
Avenue development partner, James c. Johnson, owner of a house-finishing company, and 
Heald himself. Devou built 1311 (10) in 1871. Heald also built 1315 (12). Johnson 
built 1313 (11) at the same time .. 

Had the development of Delaware Avenue remained centered around that one main street, 
it is doubtful that even the 1200 and 1300 blocks of the larger development would have 
remained. However, streets adjacent to Delaware Avenue were laid out and later de­
veloped along the same architectural lines as the Delaware Avenue homes. These subsid­
iary streets are not being included in the historic district at this time because of 
their later date. 

Delaware Avenue was originally developed to provide a residential section for the grow­
ing Wilmington. Now a century later, people are returning to the area from the suburbs 
again to be closer to the center of Wilmington. The large apartment complexes in the 
area supply the additional needed housing. Thus, Delaware Avenue remains an important 
adjunct to the city. 
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